# Exhibit 1

# Exhibit 1

18

19

20

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MEI-GSR HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company, d/b/a/ GRAND SIERRA RESORT,

Supreme Court No. 70319

Appellant,

District Court Case No.: CV13-01704

VS.

PEPPERMILL CASINO, INC., a Nevada Corporation, d/b/a/ PEPPERMILL CASINO; RYAN TORS, an individual,

Respondents.

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

# COHEN|JOHNSON|PARKER|EDWARDS

H. STAN JOHNSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 00265
sjohnson@cohenjohnson.com
CHRIS DAVIS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 6616
cdavis@cohenjohnson.com
255 E. Warm Springs Road, Suite 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Telephone: (702) 823-3500

Attorneys for Appellant

Facsimile: (702) 823-3400

2

# IV. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 3A(b). Notice of Entry of Order dismissing GSR's claims against Defendant-Respondent Ryan Tors was filed and served on March 10, 2015. APP 867-54, v.4. Notice of Entry of Judgment granting judgment favor of Defendant-Respondent Peppermill Casino Inc. ("Peppermill"), on all claims brought by Plaintiff-Appellant MEI-GSR Holdings, d/b/a/ Grand Sierra Resort ("GSR), was filed and served on March 28, 2016. APP 6817-21, v.29. Notice of Entry of Order denying GSR's motion for a new trial was filed and served on June 6, 2016. APP 6967-71, v.30. On April 5, 2016, an order granting Peppermill's motion for attorney fees and costs was filed. APP 6827-33, v. 29. Notice of Entry of Amended Judgment which included that award of attorney fees and costs was filed and served on April 12, 2016. APP 6834-37, v. 29. Appellant-Plaintiff timely filed a notice of appeal on April 26, 2016, and an amended notice of appeal on June 17, 2016. APP 6862-6919, v.29; APP 6972-7037, v.30. GSR's Notices of Appeal are therefore timely pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 4(a) and 26(c).

# V. ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 17(a)(1) as this case does not involve a case category

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

17

18

19

20

that is presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals under Nev. R. App. P. 17(b).

This matter is also presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 17(a)(10), as this case originated in business court, and Nev. R. App. P. 17(a)(14) as this case involves issues of first impression in the interpretation of Nevada's Uniform Trade Secrets Act, NRS Chapter 600A, which is a question of statewide public importance.

# VI. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the district court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that: "Even if the information which is asserted to be a trade secret could have been duplicated by other proper means, the information is not readily ascertainable if in fact it was acquired by improper means," when more than one hundred years of precedent supports such an instruction.
- 2. Whether the district court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that a "trade secret is not readily ascertainable when the means of acquiring the information falls below the generally accepted standards of commercial morality and reasonable conduct, even if means of obtaining the information violated no government standard, did not breach any confidential relationship, and did not involve any fraudulent or illegal conduct," when the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws, when drafting the Uniform Trade Secrets

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

17

18

19

20

Act adopted by Nevada, expressly adopted such a rule and courts interpreting the Uniform Trade Secret Act have reached the same conclusion.

- 3. Whether the district court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that for information to "be readily ascertainable, the information asserted to be a trade secret must be ascertained quickly, or so self-revealing to be ascertainable at a glance."
- 4. Whether the district court erred in instructing the jury as to reverse engineering when Peppermill admitted to stealing GSR's slot machine hold percentage settings, and did not acquire those trade secrets by reverse engineering.
- 5. Whether the district court erred in awarding Peppermill's attorney fees, pursuant to an offer of judgment, when Peppermill could not and did not show that GSR acted in bad faith, which showing is required under the Nevada Trade Secrets Act, and when Peppermill failed to show that it meets the requirements to secure attorney fees pursuant to an offer of judgment.
- 6. Whether the district court erred in refusing to compel Peppermill to respond to GSR's discovery requests even though Peppermill had waived any objection and had admittedly failed to produce tens of thousands of relevant documents.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

17

18

19

- 7. Whether the district court erred in denying GSR's motion for case concluding sanctions without making any findings, when Peppermill admittedly and intentionally withheld tens of thousands of requested documents.
- 8. Whether the district court erred in granting Peppermill's motion in limine, without providing GSR an opportunity to respond, and which improperly excluded evidence showing the theft and use of slot machine hold percentage settings from ten other casinos in the Northern Nevada area, which was obtained during the same time period and as part of the same scheme as when Peppermill misappropriated GSR's slot machine hold percentage settings.
- 9. Whether the district court erred in denying the GSR's motion to amend its complaint when the motion was timely filed according to the district court's scheduling order.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

17

18

19

20

# VII. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 15, 2013, GSR filed its complaint against Peppermill for misappropriating GSR's trade secrets, based on Peppermill's admitted theft of GSR's slot machine hold percentage settings. APP 1-10, v.1. Because the district court improperly instructed the jury, on January 26, 2016, the jury rendered a verdict 6-2, on the limited grounds that GSR's slot machine hold percentage settings were reasonably ascertainable by proper means. APP 6461-64, v.28. The district court also erroneously granted Peppermill's motion for attorney fees in an order dated April 5, 2016, without the analysis required to grant a motion for attorney fees. APP6827-33, v.29. Notice of Entry of Amended Judgment which included that award of attorney fees and costs was filed and served on April 12, 2016. APP 6834-37, v.29. GSR timely filed a notice of appeal on April 26, 2016, and an amended notice of appeal on June 17, 2016. APP 6862-6918, v.29; APP 6972-7037, v.30. GSR's Notices of Appeal are therefore timely pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 4(a) and 26(c).

# VIII. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Peppermill Blatantly and Admittedly Misappropriated GSR's Α. **Confidential Slot Machine Hold Percentage Settings.** 

Appellant-Plaintiff MEI-GSR HOLDINGS, LLC ("GSR"), acquired Grand Sierra Resort and Casino (the "Resort") in April 2011, and since that date has

5 Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 • (702) 823-3500 • FAX: (702) 823-3400 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

17

18

19

20

1

2

3

4

become one of the premier casinos in northern Nevada. APP 4202:22 – 4203:2, 4205:9-12, v.18; APP 6282, v.27. By no later than December 2011, John Hansen, Peppermill's General Manager, ordered Ryan Tors, Peppermill's Slot Director, in violation of Nevada law, to wrongfully and without authorization access GSR gaming machines by use of a re-set key supplied by the manufacturers to access certain non-public diagnostic screens to determine where the GSR set confidential hold percentages or pars<sup>1</sup> on certain types of slot machines. This trade secret information was used by the Peppermill to gain a competitive advantage to increase profits or attract additional players. APP 6171-80, v.26; APP 4387:17-22, 4402:1-22, 4413:22 – 4417:12; APP 6168-69. Upon learning about Tors' theft of GSR's confidential hold percentages, William Paganetti, Peppermill's president, pressed Tors to continue to steal such information. APP 4135:7 -4136:3; 4142:21-23, 4163:13-4164:16, 4411:5-4413:2, 4418:23-4419:10, 4476:4-9, 4515:15-17, 4535:4-8, v. 18-19. Paganetti, who has been a casino operator for more than forty-three (43) years, did so knowing that such egregious misconduct was in violation of Nevada law and could possibly result in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hold percentage is the theoretical percentage of what the casino should retain from the money played on a particular machine; this is also referred to as the par setting of a particular slot machine. Operators can set gaming machines at different par settings to change the percentage held by the machine in order to be more competitive in the marketplace or increase revenue.

	001	5
	• FAX: (702) 823-34	6
	FAX: (7	7
	23-3500 •	8
-	la 89119 • (702) 823-3500	9
	89119	10
-	as, Nevad	11
	• Las Veg	12
	1, Suite 100	13
	Springs Road,	14
	arm	15
	255 E. W	16
		17

18

19

20

1

2

3

4

revocation of Peppermill's License. APP 6174-80, v.26; APP 3024:1-11, v.13; APP 3124:11-19, v.14.

On July 12, 2013, GSR caught Tors read-handed stealing information from GSR's slot machines. APP 6174-75, 6180, v.26; APP 4389:6 – 4390:17, 4400:15-20, v.19. Tors was detained and turned over to gaming authorities. APP 4419:19-22, 4474:18-20, 4493:2-6. Tors admits he "knowingly and willfully" stole GSR's slot machine hold percentage settings, at the request of numerous Peppermill employees, to whom the stolen information was disclosed. APP 4411:5 – 4413:21, 4418:23 – 4419:10, 4493:18-23, v.19.

# **B.** The Nevada Gaming Control Board Fined Peppermill \$1 Million Based on Its Theft of GSR's Confidential Slot Machine Hold Percentage Settings.

After the Nevada Gaming Control Board ("NGCB") completed its investigation, Peppermill admitted that "over a period of time beginning in at least 2011" until "July 12, 2013," Peppermill "knew of, approved of, and directed" Ryan Tors to use "a slot machine 'reset' key to obtain theoretical hold percentage information from slot machines belonging to ... the Grand Sierra Resort and Casino," along with at least ten other casinos. APP 6174-75, 6180, v.26. Peppermill admitted that this egregious misconduct violated NGCR 5.011 and NRS 463.170(8), and "was an unsuitable method of operation" and justified

sanctions "in the total amount of ONE MILLLION DOLLARS and NO CENTS (\$1,000,000.00)." APP 6174-80, v.26.

# C. Peppermill Waived Any Objection to GSR's Discovery Requests Due to Its Untimely Responses.

On August 15, 2013, GSR filed its complaint against Peppermill for misappropriating GSR's trade secrets. APP 1-10, v.1. On April 15, 2014, the district court entered its Scheduling Order requiring that all discovery be completed by April 16, 2015. APP 11-14, v.1. After the district court refused to compel Peppermill to serve full initial disclosures, GSR served its First Request for Production of Documents upon Defendant Peppermill Casino on November 10, 2014. APP1127-37, v.5. Peppermill, however, responded 1 ½ months late, and therefore waived any objection to the production of any requested documents. Peppermill's untimely responses did *not* produce the majority of the documents requested. APP 1141-1213, v.5-6.

# D. Peppermill Admittedly and Inappropriately Withheld Tens of Thousands of Relevant Emails Requested in GSR's Discovery Requests.

Eighteen (18) of the twenty-one (21) requests in that set involved requests for emails, including Request No. 9 which requested a "back up of each of your email servers for the period from December 31, 2009 through the present."

APP 1127-37, v.5. Despite waiving its objections, Peppermill did not provide a backup of all its emails but only provided five (5) emails. APP 1141-1201, v.5-6.

18

19

20

1

2

3

4

More troubling, GSR specifically requested "All documents provided to the Nevada Gaming Board or Nevada Gaming Commissions as part of the investigation NGC 13-23." APP 1135:3-5, v.5. Frank Schrek, attorney for Peppermill, represented that there are "literally thousands of e-mails that were obtained by the investigators in this case." APP 3078:4-5, v.13. Denise Vessie, an administrative assistant to Peppermill's president, testified that approximately 80,000 emails were turned over to the NGCB. APP 3348, v.14.

Furthermore, Mr. Nathan Estes, Peppermill's Corporate IT Director of Network Systems, testified that when someone at Peppermill sends an email it is saved "using an archiving system," and the "archive retention is three years." APP 7091:23-25, 7100:17-24, 7103:6-13, v.30. Further, due to GSR's request for a litigation hold in April 2014, Peppermill forever retains the emails, with their attachments, along with all other electronic data, on the server for the three years prior to April 2014, to the present. APP 7103:9-13, 7105:5-16, 7106:4-10, 7107:25 – 7109:16, 7110:5-6, 7119:8-11, 7120:15-20, 7125:2-6, v.30. Mr. Estes further testified that "to meet the requirements of the litigation-hold, [Peppermill put aside] a *backup* at that time of all the information and we stored it," which preserved it without alteration. APP 7121:9 – 7122:3, v.30 (emphasis added). Mr. Estes confirmed that "[a]s long the information was being saved [that the employee] was producing on the server, then yes it was backed up.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

12

13

14

15

17

18

19

20

APP 712639:14-16 (emphasis added). Finally, Estes testified that though he had been given a list of search criteria to use regarding the emails "haven't done anything with that." APP 7122:24 – 7123:3.

Instead of producing the tens of thousands of required emails and other documents, Peppermill's responses were littered with numerous unsupportable and groundless objections, despite having waived these objections due to its untimely responses. APP 709-846, v3-4; APP 1096-1105, v.5.

### Peppermill Served an Invalid Offer of Judgment. **E.**

Peppermill served an invalid offer of judgment on February 13, 2015. The offer was invalid because it was conditional. APP 6485:23-24, v.28(conditioning that judgment "be taken jointly, not severally, for the sum of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000)"). Peppermill's offer also was unreasonable as to timing and amount. The offer was less than one-half (1/2) percent of the damages sought by GSR, 10% of the value Peppermill placed GSR's slot machine hold percentage settings, and hundreds of thousands of dollars less than the costs and attorney fees the parties had expended up to that point. APP 3422, v.15; APP 6731, v.29; APP 6704-05, v.28. The timing of the offer was unreasonable because GSR only had three (3) days to evaluate the offer after Peppermill served its expert reports, and had to do so without tens of thousands of documents that

was unreasonable, GSR in good faith in rejected Peppermill's offer of judgment.

F. The District Court Improperly Denied GSR's Timely Motion to Amend Its Complaint.

While GSR did not wish to amend its complaint until after Peppermill complied with its obligation to provide complete discovery responses, GSR moved to amend its complaint on March 2, 2015 ("Motion to Amend"), in order

complied with its obligation to provide complete discovery responses, GSR moved to amend its complaint on March 2, 2015 ("Motion to Amend"), in order to meet the deadline set in the district court's scheduling order. APP 470-501, v.2-3. GSR sought to amend its to add claims of civil conspiracy, unlawful acts regarding a computer, unfair or deceptive trade practices, and unjust enrichment, along with adding a new defendant, John Hanson, who was discovered to have ordered Tors to first steal GSR's trade secrets. APP 479-500, v.2-3. The only basis for denying GSR's motion to amend was district court's finding that "all of GSR's new claims, as well as its theory of liability for Mr. Hanson, a Peppermill officer, could have been alleged much earlier." APP 1093:18-20, v.5.

Peppermill was improperly withholding. APP 502-708, v.3. Because the offer

G. Despite the Overwhelming Evidence that Peppermill Was Improperly Withholding Tens of Thousands of Documents, the District Court Erroneously Refused to Compel the Production of these Documents.

On March 4, 2015, GSR filed a motion to compel discovery responses based on the tens of thousands of documents improperly withheld. APP 709-846, v.3-4. In an order dated April 23, 2015, the district court sanctioned Peppermill, in the amount of \$2500.00, for its refusal to provided requested documents. APP

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

17

18

19

20

1327:19-20, v.6. Instead of compelling the production of these improperly withheld documents, the district court ordered the parties to meet and confer "to clarify and narrow the requests so as to enable Defendant to promptly comply." APP 1325:1-3, v.6. The district court erroneously did so, even though the district court specifically found that Peppermill had no explanation for the untimeliness of its responses to GSR's first request for production of documents. APP 1325:8-12, v.6. As a result of this order, on May 5, 2015, Peppermill served a consolidated supplemental response to GSR's document request which still failed to produce tens of thousands of relevant documents. APP 2298-2314, v.10; APP 7121:9 – 7122:3, 7126, v.30.

H. The District Court Granted GSR's Motion to Extend Discovery and to Continue Trial, Despite the Court Previous Refusal when Denying GSR's Motion to Amend.

Previously, on April 16, 2015, GSR moved to continue trial and the discovery deadlines based on Peppermill's refusal to comply with GSR's discovery requests. APP 1106 -1319, v.5-6. Peppermill claimed any such extension would be prejudicial, even though Peppermill delayed discovery by more than five (5) months and failed to provide any substantive response to GSR's discovery requests. APP 1356-1440, v.6. The district court granted GSR's motion, in an order dated July, 1 2015, extending discovery until September 4, 2015, and continuing trial until October 5, 2015. APP 1967-69, v.7.

# COHEN JOHNSON PARKER EDWARDS 55 E. Warm Springs Road, Suite 100 • Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 • (702) 823-3500 • FAX: (702) 823-3400 91 91 11 01 6 8 2 9 9

17

18

19

20

1

2

3

4

Once the district confirmed that discovery would be extended, Peppermill abandoned any pretense that an extension of discovery was prejudicial. In a telephonic discovery dispute conference held on July 10, 2015, Peppermill requested that discovery be extended until September - October 2015, with trial continued until early January 2016. APP 7085, v.30. The parties, with court approval, eventually stipulated to extend discovery until November 25, 2015, and to continue trial until January 11, 2016. APP 1971-74, v.9.

# I. The District Court Ruled that Peppermill Waived Any Objection to GSR's Discovery Requests.

Previously, on May 22, 2015, when denying Peppermill's motion for a protective order attempting in part to avoid producing documents required by GSR's document requests, the discovery commissioner imposed an additional \$1500.00 sanction against Peppermill, and specifically found that that "Defendant waived its objections to the first request for production by failing to serve a timely response to that request." APP 1536:15-17, 1537:7-9, v.7. The district court confirmed the discovery commissioner's Recommendation in an order filed June 18, 2015. APP 1965-66, v.9.

# J. Despite Waiving All Objections and Court Imposed Sanctions, Peppermill Continued to Wrongly Withhold Tens of Thousands of Documents.

Since that date, GSR pursued no less than three (3) discovery dispute conferences and sent no less than eleven (11) letters and emails to Peppermill

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

17

18

19

20

repeatedly attempting to secure the tens of thousands of emails which Peppermill was required to provide without objection. APP 3356, v.14. Peppermill, however, continued to stall by imposing unreasonable conditions on the production of those emails which conditions would involve thousands of hours of attorney time and by otherwise refusing to provide the required emails without objection. APP 3356, 3380-81, 3390-92, v. 14-15.

K. GSR Discovers, Beyond Doubt, that the Documents Improperly Withheld by Peppermill Include Documents Establishing the Theft and Use of GSR's Trade Secrets.

On November 4, 2015, when counsel for GSR was present in Mr. Robison's office for the deposition of a witness, counsel reviewed the emails in question for several hours. Due to Peppermill's unreasonable conditions, counsel was only allowed to examine some of the emails and take manual notes regarding their content. An inspection of the emails showed that there were not 80,000 emails, but there were 238,548 emails. APP 2129:20-26, v.9; APP 2199:13-14, v.10.

In the short time that counsel could inspect the emails at opposing counsel's office, several very important emails were unearthed that were previously undisclosed. A December 4, 2012 email from Ryan Tors to: NBPartners; John Hanson; David McHugh; Billy Paganetti stated: "There have been no par changes- guaranteed. Atlantis pars.xls." APP 2130:11-15; APP

20

1

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