1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF	THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		
3		
4	MEI-GSR HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, d/b/a GRAND SIERRA RESORT,	Electronically Filed May 19 2017 01:16 p.m
5	Appellant,	Elizabeth A. Brown Supreme Court lerk of Supreme Court
7 8 9	vs. PEPPERMILL CASINOS, INC., a Nevada corporation, d/b/a/ PEPPERMILL CASINO; Respondent.	District Ct. Case No. CV13-01704
10		
11		
12	RESPONDENT PEPPERMI	ILL CASINOS, INC.'S
13	ANSWERING	BRIEF
14		
15 16	ROBISON, BEL	AUSTEGUI, SHARP & LOW
17 18	KENT R. ROBIS Nevada Bar No. krobison@rbslla	SON, ESQ. 1167 w.com
19	SCOTT L. HER Nevada Bar No.	NANDEZ, ESQ.
20	shernandez@rbs	
21	THERESE M. S Nevada Bar No.	12890

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

Similarly, the UTSA drafters do not cite to *Christopher* for the provision of the UTSA discussing whether readily ascertainable information is a "trade secret." Instead, the UTSA drafters cite to Christopher for assistance in defining what constitutes "improper means" under the definition of misappropriation. Unif. Trade Secrets Act, § 1 at cmt. a.

GSR's proposed jury instruction overlooks the separate definitions of "trade secret" and "misappropriation," and again asks this Court to interject language into the NTSA which does not currently exist. Not only is this improper, see Williams, 129 Nev. at , 302 P.3d at 1147, but GSR's jury

instruction misinterprets and misapplies the law upon which it does rely.

Accordingly, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in declining to issue GSR's "commercial morality" jury instruction.

4. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Declining to Instruct the Jury on GSR's "At-A-Glance" Jury Instruction.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in declining to instruct the jury that, in order to be readily ascertainable, information must "be so self-revealing as to be ascertainable at a glance." 27 AA 6410-14. Nothing in the NTSA limits "readily ascertainable" information to information that is "readily ascertainable at a glance." *See* NRS Chapter 600A.

Under both the NTSA and the UTSA, information does not qualify as a trade secret if it is "readily ascertainable by proper means." *See* NRS 600A.030(5)(a); Unif. Trade Secrets Act, § 1(4)(i). The UTSA specifically states that "proper means" of ascertaining a trade secret include, among other things, "[d]iscovery by independent invention," or "discovery by 'reverse engineering." Unif. Trade Secrets Act, § 1, Comment. By their nature, both independent invention and reverse engineering take some time to accomplish. Thus, the UTSA drafters clearly contemplated that a trade secret did not need to be readily ascertainable "at a glance." To incorporate GSR's language into the NTSA would require this Court to insert language the act does not

22

24

25

26 27

28

Robison, Belaustegui, Sharp & Low 71 Washington St. Reno, NV 89503 (775) 329-3151

contain, and to limit the scope of the act in a manner which was not contemplated by its drafters.

The authority upon which GSR relies is, once again, authority which bases its holding off of the First Restatement and not the UTSA. Furthermore, the cases which GSR cites in its brief do not stand for the proposition that information must be ascertainable at a glance in order to defeat a finding of trade secret; instead, these cases analyze whether information which is ascertained at a glance satisfies the *confidentiality* requirement of the definition of trade secret. See Motorola, Inc. v. Lemko Corp., No. 08 C 5427, 2012 WL 74319, at *18-20 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 10, 2012) (rejecting the defendants' argument that the information was not the subject of reasonable efforts by the plaintiff to keep confidential because it was not ascertainable at a glance). 10 Thus, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in declining to include GSR's proposed "at-a-glance" language in the jury instruction, because this language is an inaccurate statement of Nevada law. This Court should affirm the District Court's rulings.

D. ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

Even if this Court disagrees, the District Court should still be affirmed because any error was harmless. The issuance of jury instructions is reviewed

¹⁰ In re Cree, Inc., 818 F.3d 694 (Fed. Cir. 2016), is a patent law case which does not address trade secret law.

for harmless error. NRCP 61; see also Nev. Power Co. v. 3 Kids, LLC, 129 Nev., Adv. Op. 47, 302 P.3d 1155, 1157 (2013). Harmless error occurs when the moving party cannot demonstrate that the error "substantially affects the party's rights," so that "but for the error, a different result might have been reached." Id. (internal quotations omitted). GSR cannot point to any evidence in the record that a different result might have been reached by the jury.

1. GSR's Theory of Trade Secret Law

Under GSR's inaccurate theory of trade secret law, GSR only needs to prove: (1) Peppermill misappropriated GSR's pars (which *per se* establishes that GSR's pars are a trade secret); (2) GSR's pars were confidential; and (3) damages. However, GSR did not present any evidence at trial that (1) its pars are confidential, or (2) it suffered damages as a result of Peppermill's conduct.

a. There Was No Evidence That Pars Are Confidential.

GSR's own witnesses confirmed that GSR's pars were not confidential.

Alex Meruelo, GSR's owner, Christopher Abraham, GSR's vice president of marketing, and Scott Bean, a marketing consultant for GSR, all testified that GSR published its pars on billboards and in publicly distributed gaming revenue reports from the Gaming Control Board, that this practice was

customary in the gaming industry, and that the advertisements made it easy for a competitor (or player) to determine the pars of the advertised machines.

18 AA 4251; 19 AA 4330; 20 AA 4685-86, 4700-02; 21 4850-53; 22 AA 5201.

Charles Lombardo, GSR's gaming expert, and GSR's slot director both testified that the 2341 key which Tors used to access the slot machines at the GSR was easily obtained by any casino in the market. 24 AA 5745; 20 AA 4634. Lombardo further testified that simply locking the machine was not enough to protect the pars because it is "the same thing everybody does." 24 AA 5745. Ken McHugh, Peppermill's director of slots, and Tors also both testified that 2341 keys are plentiful and easy to access. 19 AA 4367-68; 19 AA 4546, 4548. Thus, the jury heard ample evidence that GSR's pars were not confidential.

b. There Was No Evidence of Damages.

Furthermore, GSR was unable to provide the jury with any evidence of damages. Under NRS 600A.050(1) (which GSR does not ask this Court to rewrite), a trade secret plaintiff may recover damages under three theories: (1) "loss caused by the misappropriation;" (2) "unjust enrichment caused by the

¹¹ Peppermill's experts also confirmed that pars are not confidential. Stacey Friedman was able to demonstrate to the jury how easily one could figure out a par through nine different methods. 23 AA 5295. Tom Sullivan confirmed that he saw GSR's billboards advertising their pars. 23 AA 5455.

misappropriation;" and/or (3) "the imposition of liability for a reasonable royalty for a misappropriator's unauthorized disclosure or use of a trade secret." GSR failed to present evidence of damages under any of these theories.

Meruelo could not identify any lost revenue as a result of Tors' conduct. 18 AA 4294-96. GSR's slot director had no evidence of lost customers. 20 AA 4649-50. GSR's damages expert, Jeremy Aguero, testified that he could not find evidence of any lost customers, revenue or profit as a result of Tors' conduct. 21 AA 5014. Michelle Salazar, Peppermill's financial expert, confirmed that "[t]here's no evidence of damages caused." 24 AA 5652.

Similarly, Meruelo could not identify any evidence indicating that Peppermill made money from obtaining GSR's pars. 18 AA 4296. Aguero, GSR's damages expert, testified that he could not find any unjust enrichment derived by the Peppermill. 21 AA 5015.

In light of this lack of evidence, GSR focused heavily on the "reasonably royalty" theory of damages. However, that theory requires proof of "use or disclosure," *see* NRS 600A.050(1), and there was no evidence of use or disclosure at trial.

Scott Bean, GSR's witness designated as the person most

2.5

knowledgeable on the issue of how or if the Peppermill used the pars, testified that he had no knowledge or evidence that the pars were ever used or disclosed by the Peppermill. 22 AA 5188-91. Aguero, GSR's expert hired to calculate a reasonably royalty, and Lombardo, GSR's expert, testified that they had not seen any evidence of use or disclosure. 22 AA 5110-11, 5115-19, 5140-41; 24 AA 5737, 5773. Peppermill's financial expert Salazar confirmed that she was unable to find any evidence of use after viewing the financial records of the Peppermill. 24 AA 5557, 5646. Thus, GSR did not present any evidence sufficient for the jury to find any damages suffered by the GSR.

2. NTSA

Any error in the instructions is also harmless under the plain language of the NTSA, because GSR did not present any evidence that its pars had independent economic value to qualify as a trade secret. *See* NRS 600A.030(5). GSR's owner testified that he had never paid anything to purchase a par. 18 AA 4305. GSR's financial experts Aguero and Lombardo both testified that pars do not have any independent value. 22 AA 5049-50, 5071, 5078-79; 24 AA 5755, 5749, 5756. All of GSR's

¹² This is consistent with the testimony of Peppermill's witnesses who all testified that Peppermill did not use the par information. *See* 18 AA 4152, 4199; 19 AA 4351-54; 20 AA 4566-67, 4570, 4786-88; 21 AA 4847

management witnesses conceded that pars have no independent economic value. 23 AA 5492-93, 5496; 24 AA 5747-48; 22 RA 5376-84, 5399-13, 5444-50.

GSR's testimony was confirmed by the testimony from Peppermill's experts. Gaming experts Stacy Friedman and Tom Sullivan (who is GSR's former Director of Slot Operations), and financial expert Salazar all testified that individual pars have no independent economic value. 23 AA 5283-84, 5325, 5509, 5461-62; 24 AA 5532-38. As part of their analysis, Friedman and Salazar considered statements from local casino owners, including Gary Carano (Eldorado/Silver Legacy), Jeff Siri (Cal-Neva), John Farahi (Atlantis), Russ Sheltra (Bonanza), Mitch Gardner (Bordertown), David Ensign (Wendover Casinos), and John Ascuaga (Sparks Nugget). 23 AA 5329; 24 AA 5532-45. All of these casino owners also unequivocally stated that an individual par, including the ones obtained by Tors, had no independent economic value to them, and they would not pay to obtain these pars. Id. Thus, there was *no evidence* that a par has independent economic value. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the District Court's ruling on jury instructions.

///

///

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ITS DISCOVERY ORDERS.

A. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING GSR'S MOTIONS TO COMPEL.

Peppermill made all of the NGCB emails available to GSR for its inspection. Accordingly, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in declining to compel Peppermill to produce hard copies of the NGCB emails. See Okada v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 83, 359 P.3d 1106, 1110 (2015) (holding that discovery orders are reviewed for an abuse of discretion). Peppermill does not dispute that failure to provide a timely written response to a discovery request may waive its objections. See Poulos v. Naas Foods, Inc., 959 F.2d 69, 74 (7th Cir. 1992). However, the District Court still has discretion to "decline to compel production of requested documents even if a timely objection has not been made," if "the request far exceeds the bounds of fair discovery." Krewson v. City of Quincy, 120 F.R.D. 6, 7 (D. Mass. 1988) (interpreting FRCP 34, NRCP 34's federal counterpart).¹³ Because the District Court found that GSR's request sought

25

26

27

^{13 &}quot;Federal cases interpreting the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are strong persuasive authority, because the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure are based in large part upon their federal counterparts." *Exec. Mgmt., Ltd. v. Ticor Title Ins. Co.*, 118 Nev. 46, 53, 38 P.3d 872, 876 (2002) (internal quotations omitted).

irrelevant information, and that Peppermill complied with the requests to the extent they sought relevant information by providing the emails to GSR for inspection, the District Court did not abuse its discretion.

The dispositive issue is not whether Peppermill waived its objections, but whether the District Court had discretion to decline to compel Peppermill to produce hard copies of irrelevant documents. Unlike GSR's discovery requests, the NGCB's investigation was not governed by NRCP 26. Thus, the NGCB received hundreds of thousands of emails which represented *all* emails sent to or received from six Peppermill employees for a period of nineteen months irrespective of topic or context. 16 AA 3839. The emails may have included employee health information, and personal and financial information.

Aware of this fact, the District Court did not grant or deny GSR's original motion to compel. Instead, it found that GSR's request for *all* emails provided to the NGCB was too broad, and ordered GSR to meet and confer with Peppermill "to clarify and narrow the requests so as to enable Defendant to produce all relevant information as requested." *Id.* at 3841.

At Peppermill's suggestion, the parties proceeded to discuss a potential ESI discovery plan of the NGCB emails. *Id.* at 3842-43. GSR rejected

Peppermill's proposed ESI protocols, but refused to provide Peppermill with an alternative. *Id.* So, in August 2015, Peppermill produced a computer containing all of the emails available to GSR for its unfettered inspection with the caveat that GSR must inform Peppermill which emails GSR wanted produced so that Peppermill could ensure GSR was not seeking irrelevant, confidential information relating to third-parties which may be contained in the emails. 16 AA 3642, 3646-47. The computer sat at Peppermill's counsel's office for over four months before GSR finally performed a cursory review, lasting approximately one hour, on November 4, 2015. *Id.* at 3651. Peppermill immediately provided copies of the emails which GSR demanded be produced as a result of its inspection. GSR then waited until late November 2015, less than two months before trial and the day before the discovery cut-off date, to file its procedurally improper Counter-Motion to compel discovery of all of the emails. 9 AA 1985-2130. GSR did not conduct the meet and confer required by NRCP 26(c) prior to filing the counter-motion.

Consistent with the Discovery Commissioner's recommendation, the District Court denied GSR's counter-motion. 21 AA 4964. The District Court agreed with the Discovery Commissioner that GSR's request for all emails provided to the NGCB was overbroad and sought irrelevant

26

27

information; thus, the District Court held that Peppermill did not waive its right to object to GSR seeking *irrelevant* information. *Id*.

The District Court's finding was not an abuse of discretion. Under NRCP 26(b)(2), the District Court "may act upon its own initiative" to limit discovery if it determines that the information sought does not comport with the scope of NRCP 26(b)(1). Moreover, "it is advisable to examine the discovery sought," because the court has discretion under Rule 26 to decline to compel disclosure of irrelevant information, even if a timely objection has not been asserted. *Shenker v. Sportelli*, 83 F.R.D. 365, 367 (E.D. Pa. 1979); *see also Krewson*, 120 F.R.D. at 7. Thus, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in declining to compel the disclosure of *irrelevant* information.

Nor did the District Court abuse its discretion in finding that, to the extent GSR's requests sought relevant information, Peppermill complied with its obligations under Rule 34 by providing the computer containing all of the emails for inspection. 21 AA at 4964. Although GSR contends that Peppermill should have physically printed the emails, GSR's document requests did not specify a particular format of production. 4 AA 740, 743. Thus, Peppermill was only required to produce the emails "as they are kept in the usual course of business." NRCP 34(b)(2)(E)(i). Furthermore, "[a] party need not produce the same electronically stored information in more than one

form." NRCP 34(b)(2)(E)(iii). Because Peppermill provided the emails for inspection, Peppermill was not required to also physically print the emails.

Finally, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that GSR's countermotion to compel was untimely. 21 AA 4964. Although GSR technically filed its counter-motion before the close of discovery, the District Court nevertheless had discretion to limit GSR's discovery upon a finding that GSR "has had ample opportunity by discovery in the action to obtain the information sought." NRCP 26(b)(2)(ii). Because the computer had been available to GSR for months for its inspection, the District Court reasoned that GSR could not "be heard to complain now that they were unavailable or that they have the inability to review these documents prior to trial." 21 AA 4964. Accordingly, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in declining to compel Peppermill to physically produce the NGCB emails and its orders should be affirmed. ¹⁵

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